# GERARDO MANSO,

Appellant,

VS.

# THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

#### APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 N.W. 14th Street Miami, Florida 33 125 (305) 545-1958

CHRISTINA A. SPAULDING Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 995320

Counsel for Appellant

#

#### INTRODUCTION

This is a direct appeal from judgments of conviction and a sentence of death, entered following a jury trial before the Honorable Leslie Rothenberg of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida. In this brief, the clerk's record on appeal is cited as "R.," the transcript of the proceedings as "T.," and the supplemental record as "S.R."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant **Gerardo Manso** was indicted on November 3, 1993 for the first-degree murder of Miguel Roque and for the attempted first-degree murder of Ray Cruz, Douglas Zamora, Jorge Sanchez, and Jorge Moussa. (R. 1-2) After the Public Defender's Office certified a conflict of interest, Arthur W. Carter, Jr. was appointed on May 20, 1994 to represent Mr. **Manso**. (T. 45; R. 15) The trial began on January 9, 1995. (T. 109). On January 13, 1995, Mr. **Manso** was convicted, as charged, on all five counts of the indictment. (T. 898-99) The penalty phase of the trial commenced on February 2, 1995, and on February 3, the jury recommended by a vote of 10 to 2 that Mr. **Manso** be sentenced to death for the murder of Miguel Roque. (T. 1157-58; R. 1143) On February 27, 1995, the trial judge sentenced Mr. **Manso** to death. (T. 1186-1222; R. 1166-1193)

#### **Guilt/Innocence** Phase

The charges in this case arose from a shooting that occurred shortly after 9 p.m. on October 14, 1993 at Aircraft Modular Products, a small manufacturing firm. (T. 355, 637) Mr. Manso was the night shift supervisor of the machine shop. (T. 5 13) The victims, Miguel Roque, Jorge Sanchez, Jorge Moussa, Ray Cruz, and Douglas Zamora, were also employees of Aircraft Modular Products. Moussa was vice-president of manufacturing (T. 512); Sanchez was the day shift machine shop supervisor and was indirectly Manso's boss (T. 451-53, 513); Roque was a mechanical engineer who had recently been promoted to manager of the computer numerical

control ("CNC") department (T. 470, 514-15); Cruz ran the CNC milling machine (T. 482-84, 514); and Zamora was "lead man" for the day shift in the CNC department, with duties essentially the sarne as Manso's. (T. 494-95, 513).

On October 14th, 1993, Moussa, Sanchez, Roque, Cruz and Zamora drove to a computer training class in Mr. Sanchez' two-door Ford Bronco and returned to the parking lot at Aircraft Modular Products a few minutes after 9 p.m. (T. 456, 485-86, 496, 516) Sanchez was driving, Zamora was seated in the front passenger seat, Roque behind Mr. Sanchez, Moussa in the middle of the rear seat, and Cruz on the far right side, behind the front passenger seat. (T. 456, 486, 497)

Sanchez got out of the Bronco and was walking behind the truck toward the building when he heard a shot and ducked behind the truck. (T. 457) Zamora exited the Bronco at approximately the same time as Sanchez, followed by Cruz. (T. 497-98) Cruz was hit, and Sanchez pulled him toward the Bronco's tire and held him there. (T. 457) Zamora was shot and briefly lost consciousness. (T. 498-99) When he came to, he heard more shots and ran for cover toward the open garage door. (T. 499-500, 526) Moussa and Roque were inside the Bronco, moving toward the passenger side door when the shooting started. (T. 520-21) Roque leaned across Moussa, to look out the window, when he was shot. (T. 521-22) Moussa heard more shots and saw bullet holes in the windshield; he pulled his own gun and fired out the window, until his gun jammed. (T. 523, 525-26) When the shooting stopped, Moussa got out of the Bronco and ran toward the building, (T. 526-27) Zamora also ran into the building at this point. (T. 526, 529) Sanchez and Cruz were still outside next to the Bronco when the ambulance arrived. (T. 531)

Sanchez and a police officer opened the back of the Bronco and found Roque lying face down, breathing heavily. (T. 539, 460) Roque was transported to Jackson Memorial Hospital, where he died from a shotgun wound to the chest. (T. 539, 622) Zamora was wounded in the lung, intestines, forearm bone and spine. (T. 502) Cruz was wounded in the leg, hip, stomach, chest, and arm. (T. 488,490) Moussa and Sanchez were not injured.

Another employee, Chris McCascin, testified that **Manso** had declined to go to **Kentucky**-Fried chicken that evening at the **8-8:30** p.m. "lunch" break. (T. 472-73) About **10-15** minutes after returning from lunch, McCascin looked for **Manso** throughout the plant and was unable to **find** him. (T. 474-75) McCascin was in the CNC shop when he heard gunshots. (T. 476, 478) After about three seconds and a series of shots, most of the employees, including McCascin, ran to the back of the shop where they remained until about **five** minutes after the shooting stopped. (T. 476-78) McCascin slipped and broke his elbow and leg when he tried to climb down from his hiding place at the back of the shop. (T. 478) He first saw **Manso** about five minutes after the shooting had stopped, when **Manso** came to help him, (T. 475, 481) Moussa testified that he had been looking for **Manso** but did not see him until about five minutes after the shooting stopped. (T. 532) Although **Manso** said he had been in the bathroom, Moussa thought he had come from the other side of the building. (T. 532)

Metro-Dade homicide Detective Juan Sanchez interviewed **Manso** at the warehouse late on the evening of October 14. (T. 658) **Manso** told Detective Sanchez that he was in the rear of the building operating the machines when he heard a series of shots. (T. 659) **Manso** said he saw other employees run past him, and he also ran to the rear of the warehouse. (T. 659) **Manso** also told Detective Sanchez that shortly before the dinner break the previous Friday, a white Cadillac with tinted windows drove into the courtyard area near the bay door, and a passenger with a

Colombian accent asked for Jorge Sanchez. (T. 660-61) **Manso** said he had seen the same car just before the dinner break, at 8 p.m., on the day of shooting, and the same passenger again asked for Jorge Sanchez, saying something to the effect that they were tired of Sanchez giving them the runaround. (T. 661-62)

Early in the morning of October 15, **Magala** Lyuis found a shotgun under a tree in her backyard, which abuts Aircraft Modular Products. (T. 435) Ms. Lyuis called 911, the police responded, took photos of the gun and took it away. (T. 359-60, 418-19, 436) The shotgun recovered from Ms. Lyuis' yard was a 12-gauge Remington pump shotgun (T. 556) The barrel of the shotgun had been cut off; the stock was cut off, and there was a shiny area on the side of the barrel where someone had used a tool to remove the manufacturer's marking and serial number. (T. 559)

Metro-Dade Firearms examiner Ray Freeman testified that he restored the serial number by applying acid to the surface of the gun. (T. 561-63) Freeman identified the five shotgun shells found at the crime scene as Remington 12-gauge ought buck shells. (T. 565-66) He **testified** that, in his expert opinion, the shells recovered from the scene were fired by this shotgun. (T. 568) He concluded that lead pellets removed from Miguel Roque's body were consistent with double ought buck pellets and with having been fired from the shells recovered at the crime scene. (T. 571-72)

The serial number Freeman recovered from the shot gun matched a Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco and Firearms ("ATF") form 4473 retained by a Sports Authority store in Miami. (T. 642, 644-45, 646-47) A handwriting analyst concluded that the signature on the ATF form matched Mr. Manso's signature on employment records maintained by Aircraft Modular Products. (T. 585, 654)

Mr. **Manso** had agreed to come to police headquarters on October 21, 1993 for further interviews. (T. 665) During an initial interview, **Manso** denied being the man on the roof and denied owning a shotgun. (T. 681) During a subsequent interview with Detectives George Plasencia and Nicholas Fabriguez, **Manso** initially denied owning a shotgun. (T. 687) Upon being shown the ATF form, **Manso** said he had purchased the gun for a friend who took it to Costa Rica. (T. 687-88) Upon being told of the shotgun's recovery from the scene of the shooting, **Manso** admitted his involvement in the homicide. (T. 688)

Detective Plasencia first recounted appellant's oral statement, (T. 689-92), then he and the prosecutor read appellant's formal, transcribed statement to the jury, (T. 702-27). In his statements to police, Manso acknowledged that he had intended to kill Jorge Sanchez and Jorge Moussa, but not Miguel Roque, who was his friend.' (T. 689, 708, 720-21) Manso said Moussa and Sanchez were his supervisors at work, and they were making Manso's job impossible. (T. 689) Manso began to cry when Plasencia asked if there was a reason he wanted to kill these people. (R. 61-62; T.727) Although there was no evidence presented that Manso's job was in jeopardy, Manso became convinced, two days before the shooting, that he was going to be fired and that Sanchez was responsible. (T. 724) He said that Sanchez, who is Colombian, did not like Cubans. (T. 724) Manso also said that, although Sanchez had been in jail for drug trafficking and had less seniority, he was promoted over Manso. (T. 723-24) Manso believed that Sanchez was telling the other supervisor, Moussa, that Manso was ignorant. (T. 724) While Manso had

<sup>&#</sup>x27;Detective Plasencia testified at one point that appellant said in his oral statement that he intended to kill Sanchez, Moussa and Zamora. (T. 689) This is apparently a misstatement, as it is inconsistent both with appellant's transcribed statement, (T. 718, **725)**, and with Detective Fabriguez' account of the oral statement at the suppression hearing did not include any statement by **Manso** that he intended to kill Douglas Zamora. (S.R. 34)

trained everybody, including Zamora, it was Zamora who was promoted. (T. 725) **Manso** also believed that he had been admonished unfairly for his work performance. (T. 726)

Appellant further confessed that the day before the shooting, he was feeling very tormented and was considering suicide. (T. 722) Although he took sleeping pills, he couldn't sleep, and paced the house. (T. 722) The next morning, **Manso** got his .12 caliber shotgun --- which he had purchased four years earlier from Sports Authority --- and put it in his car. (T. 708, 711, 723) **Manso** always kept a .45 pistol in his car for protection but also brought the shotgun with him: he knew "they were planning to fire me from my job unfairly" and was "undecided whether I was going to commit suicide or carry on what I was going to do. " (T. 706-08) **Manso** said he had been thinking about shooting the four co-workers when they arrived, but had no intention of hurting Roque, who was a very close friend, (T. 708) **Manso** retrieved the shotgun and a box of cartridges from his car about 8:25-8:30 p.m., shortly before he expected the group to return from their class. (T.690, 708-10) **Manso** used a saw in the machine shop to cut off the stock of the gun and used the grinders to remove the serial number so nobody would know it was his weapon; he had sawed off the barrel years before for hunting. (T.711-12) He finished at about a quarter to nine, loaded the gun with five cartridges, and climbed the ladder to the roof. (T. 690, 714-16)

Manso knew that the group would be driving in Sanchez' Bronco. (T. 689, 709-10) He was walking on the roof when the Bronco pulled up. (T. 716-17) He was directly in front and above the vehicle but could not see where the people inside it were seated. (T. 717) Zamora got out first, from the front passenger side. (T. 690, 717-18) Manso intended to scare Zamora, not to kill him, so he shot Zamora once below the waist. (T. 690, 718, 725) Manso fired a second shot at Cruz' lower body, also intending to wound him but not to kill him. (T. 691, 718-19) One person, whom he thought was Roque, got out from the left rear and went to the back of the

Bronco. (T. 719) **Manso** thought the person remaining in the back seat was Moussa, so he shot through the roof of the car. (T. 691,720) **Manso** intended to kill Moussa but **fired** only one shot. (T. 720) He thought Sanchez was also still inside, in the driver's seat, and shot twice through the left windshield. (T. 691, 720) **Manso** said he intended to kill Sanchez, because Sanchez was making his life impossible and drove him almost crazy. (T. 720-21) When **Manso** ran out of ammunition, he threw the shotgun aside. (T. **691-92, 721)** He **climbed** down the ladder and went back into the building; he wanted to return to his car to retrieve his **.45** and kill himself, but was thwarted by the arrival of the police. (T. 721-22)

After presenting appellant's confession, the state rested its case, and defense counsel moved for judgments of acquittal on the attempted **first** degree murder counts as to Zamora and Cruz, on the ground that appellant did not intend to kill them. (T. 758-59)

Mr. **Manso** testified for the defense that his confession had been fed to him by the police and that he had agreed to it only after the police threatened to deport him and his wife and to turn his children over to the state. (T. 768, 790) On cross-examination, **Manso** denied making a phone call to Aircraft Modular Products after his arrest and telling a co-worker that his only regret was not killing Jorge Sanchez. (T. 793)

In rebuttal, the prosecution called Detectives Fabriguez and Plasencia, who denied making any threats to **Manso** or suggesting answers to the questions, (T. 797-98, 803); and the interpreter and court reporter, who said **Manso** was not threatened and was not reading from a script or papers when he answered the officers' questions. (T. 808, 816).

The prosecution then called Raul Somarriba, who testified that appellant called him at Aircraft Modular Products one week after his arrest and said he just wanted to say goodbye. (T. 829-30) Somarriba asked **Manso** why he had done it and **Manso** responded, "I had to do it, and

don't ask me. " (T. 830) Somarriba remained quiet and Manso said "What I'm sorry for is I did not hit George Sanchez. " (T. 831)

The **state** again rested its case, and defense counsel renewed his prior motions. (T. **832-**33) The jury found Mr. **Manso** guilty as charged on all counts. (T. 898-99) The penalty phase was scheduled to begin three weeks later, on February 2, **1995**.

#### **Penalty Phase**

The state also filed a motion in limine to preclude the defense from presenting various types of evidence at sentencing, including "[e]vidence of the character or health of the defendant's family members unless shown to have contributed to the defendant's actions." (R. 1081) The motion was granted, without defense objection. (T. 917)

The penalty phase of the trial began on February 2, 1995. The state first presented testimony from two Metro-Dade police officers regarding **Manso's** second degree murder conviction for the 1991 killing of Luis Gutierrez. Officer John King testified that Gutierrez' body was found in the front seat of his Jeep Cherokee near the Palmetto Expressway and that Gutierrez died of a shotgun wound to the head. (T. 930-31, 933)

Detective Nick Fabriguez then testified that Mr. Manso had confessed to the Gutierrez murder during the interrogation on the Aircraft Modular Products shooting. (T. 938) After summarizing Manso's oral statement, (T. 942-46), Detective Fabriguez and the prosecutor read his transcribed statement to the jury:\* Mr. Manso had learned that his wife was having an affair with Gutierrez, who was employed at the Publix warehouse where Mrs. Manso worked.<sup>3</sup> (T. 943)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Copies of the statement were also distributed to the jurors. (T. 948)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Appellant had once used the "star 69" feature on the telephone to return a call his wife had just received and spoke to Gutierrez. (T. 942-43, 959) Manso told Gutierrez to leave Mrs.

On August 16, 1991, Manso went to the warehouse at about 9:30 p.m., waited for Gutierrez, and followed him onto the Palmetto Expressway. (T. 943, 952-53) When traffic backed up because of an accident, Mr. Manso got out of his car, approached Gutierrez and told him to leave Mrs. Manso alone. Gutierrez remarked that men with unfaithful wives had no right to speak, called Mrs. Manso a whore, and drove away. (T. 943-44, 953-54) Manso followed Gutierrez to a gas station, where he saw Mrs. **Manso** get into Gutierrez' truck and drive off. (T. 944, 954-55) Manso lost the truck in traffic and decided to wait in the parking lot. (T. 944, 955) Gutierrez and Mrs. Manso returned at 11:30 p.m. (T. 944-45, 955) After Mrs. Manso left without seeing her husband, Manso approached Gutierrez' car and told Gutierrez that he was ruining Manso's life, his wife and his family; Manso warned Gutierrez to stay away from his wife and threatened to kill Gutierrez if he touched her again. (T. 945, 955-56, 960) Gutierrez responded that Manso should tell his wife to stay away from him, then opened his door, striking **Manso** with it, and drove away, "squish[ing] the tires as he left." (T. 945, 956) Wanting to continue the conversation, Manso followed Gutierrez, pulled alongside him, reached to the floorboard and picked up the shotgun, which he regularly carried in his car at that time, and fired once, through the open passenger side window. (T. 946, 956-57, 959-60) The gun was the Remington .l gauge Manso had purchased at the Sports Authority. (T. 958, 960)

The state also called Roger Koch, the president of Aircraft Modular, and Kenya Roque, Miguel Roque's widow, to provide victim impact testimony. Mr. Koch testified that he had known Miguel Roque, for three months and described him as a quiet and "intelligent man" and a "valuable employee." (T. 964-65)

Manso alone, and Gutierrez told him that Mrs. Manso had initiated the relationship. (T. 943, 959)

Kenya Roque testified that she met and married Miguel Roque in Havana (T. **967)**, and that they came to the United States in 1991 , (T. 968-69) Mrs. Roque testified that her husband had been a good father to their young daughter and was a hard worker. (T. 97 1-73)

Mr. Manso's sister, Marta, and his brothers Orlando and Ricardo testified to the following: Their family left Cuba to come to the United States in 1969, seeking help for their mother: a psychiatrist in Cuba had diagnosed her as schizophrenic, and electric shock treatments administered there had failed to cure her. (T. 974-76, 984) Mr. Manso was left behind, because he was 15 and nearly of military age. (T. 979-80, 984-85)

He had been tortured in the military: soldiers would wake him up at 3 in the morning, throw cold water on him and make him walk naked in the fields. (T. 985) He would be left in the woods on survival training, and made to steal food. (T. 979) Sometimes he was deprived of food; at other times, soldiers would kick his plate off the table and make him eat off the ground. (T. 986) He had received psychiatric treatment, including electric shock treatments, in the Cuban military but had stopped seeing a psychiatrist because he didn't want to believe he had a problem. (T. 976-78, 985, 989-90)

When Mr. Manso arrived in the United States, Marta and Ricardo Manso, his younger siblings, found him to be no longer the cheerful, energetic person described to them; he was depressed and very quiet. (T. 985) Furthermore, his mother was institutionalized, and his parents in the process of getting a divorce. (T. 982) His mother believed her husband was the devil. (T. 983) Defense counsel asked Marta how many times their mother had been hospitalized; the prosecutor objected to this line of inquiry as "irrelevant" and in violation of the motion in limine, and the objection was sustained, (T. 975)

Marta testified that, when Mr. Manso was living at home, he "just wasn't all there." (T. 978) Orlando testified that he stopped hunting with Mr. Manso because he was "loose [in] his mind" and easily disoriented, getting lost on trails they had used for years. (T. 993) All three siblings testified that their mother's anti-psychotic medication was often missing, and they discovered that Mr. Manso had been consuming it. (T. 978-79, 986, 992)

Marta introduced Mr. Manso to his wife, Maria. (T. 980-81) Orlando testified that when Mr. Manso was first married, he became cheerful and happy. (T. 987) He was a good father and worked extra hours and on weekends to give his family everything they needed. (T. 981) Mr. Manso began to suspect his wife was having an affair, however, when she started acting differently toward him, was abusive to their children, and arrived home at odd hours of the night. (T. 981, 987) At this point, Mr. Manso became depressed, because his wife and children were the most important thing in his life. (T. 987, 992) Appellant was separated on and off from his wife and lived with his mother during those periods. (T. 981)

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