IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 85,529

GERARDO MANSO,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AN APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA CRIMINAL DIVISION

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida GOT 49 1996:

FARIBA N. KOMEILY

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0375934 Department of Legal Affairs Rivergate Plaza, Suite 950 444 Brickell Avenue Miami, Florida 3 3 13 1

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

Thus, it must be concluded that the absence of a written report is not fundamental error and such a claim must be preserved for appellate review; and, alternatively, that a written report is not mandated by the rules, and in-court testimony from the experts, subject to cross-examination and additional examination by the court, can serve as the functional equivalent of a written report and may, under circumstances such as those of the instant case, fully satisfy the requirements of the rules.

The Appellant further claims that the experts failed to address the six factors listed in Rule 3.2 11 (a)(2), Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure. For the same reasons as detailed above, this claim was not preserved for appellate review as it was never raised in the trial court Insofar as the order appointing the doctors spelled out that they should consider these factors, there is no reason to presume that they did not. Had they been questioned about any such individual factor, it is reasonable to conclude that they presumably did so, and that further questioning would have elicited such an acknowledgment.

Lastly, as to the claim that the experts' in-court testimony failed to explain the bases of their opinions, that assertion is, once again, unpreserved for appellate review for the same reasons. Additionally, that assertion is belied by the record, as Dr. Garcia clearly set forth the basis for his conclusions. Not only was the defendant malingering, but, Dr. Haber's evaluation of a psychotic

breakdown was explicitly rejected, and the reasons for the rejection of that diagnosis were detailed. (T. 1022-30).

D. <u>Trial Court's Order</u>

The Appellant lastly attacks the trial court's findings, asserting that several of the findings made by the court were incorrect. Initially, the State would note that the controlling principle is that the trial court's finding of competency is valid as long as it is supported by the evidence and as long as there is no abuse of discretion. See. Carter, supra; Caso v. State, 524 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 1988) (trial court's ruling will be upheld, regardless of reasoning, where it is supported by the evidence). Under such a standard, as evidenced from the prior arguments herein, the lower court's decision regarding competency is fully supported by the evidence and the court's own observations of the defendant. The Appellant's argument regarding various findings by the trial court is thus irrelevant.

Nevertheless, a review of the Appellant's numerous claims compels the conclusion that the individual findings by the trial court were substantially accurate and were fully consistent with the ultimate conclusion regarding competency. First, the "longstanding psychotic problem" to which Dr. Haber and the Appellant refer, was, according to Dr. Haber's own testimony, nothing more than something which at times escalated to a "depressive disorder." (T. 1032). A depressive disorder is not a major mental illness; Dr. Haber's phrasing, "a longstanding psychotic problem," was therefore misleading at best, and refuted or minimized by her own acknowledgment that it was nothing more than the depressive disorder to which she herself was referring.

Second, the judge stated that "there's no verification of mental history." (T. 1052). The judge was entirely correct. None of the family members who testified had any personal knowledge of psychiatric or shock treatments received by the defendant in the Cuban military, Those family members were not even in the country at the time and did not even see the defendant between 1969

and 1979, some ten years after the fact. All of the family members admitted that this information came to them second hand, at best, either from the defendant or from other family members.

Third, the Appellant contests the judge's assertion that the only odd behavior observed by anyone was the defendant's depression. (T, 1052). While there were allegedly "fears" that the defendant would be like his schizophrenic mother, none of those "fears" were ever described in terms of concrete observations of anything other than depressed conduct on the part of the defendant.

Fourth, the Appellant attacks the judge's finding that the jail records did not show signs of psychological problems. This was supported by Dr, Garcia's review and interpretation of the jail records, which compelled his conclusion that the records did not reflect any psychiatric symptoms; they did not reflect any psychosis; and they did not reflect any use of prescription drugs since the spring of 1994, some 10 months prior to the trial. (T. 1028-30). Dr. Garcia indicated that he was aware of the suicide watch, but that did not alter his conclusions, <u>Id</u>.

Fifth, as to the defendant's inexpressive, blank face, the court simply observed that it was the same as it had been throughout the trial. (T. 1054-55). The court was under no compulsion to accept Dr. Haber's interpretation of the defendant's "staring" and nonresponsiveness. Since no one was asserting that the defendant had been incompetent for the first week of the trial, the constancy of the facial expressions was therefore properly noted by the trial judge to be fully consistent with the defendant's prior "competent" behavior in court.

Sixth, the Appellant alleges that the trial judge exaggerated the description of what transpired when the defendant engaged in a similar outburst during the pretrial suppression hearing. While the court reporter's transcription of the suppression hearing may not note the defendant's actions in their entirety, the trial judge was there herself, as were the trial attorneys. Defense counsel did not object to the court's characterization of the defendant's outburst, and thereby implicitly agreed with its

accuracy.

Lastly, both doctors asserted that the defendant, during the examination, was unable to recall his last name, as well as numerous other basic background questions, such as the names of his wife and children, his age, date of birth, place of birth, education, work and marital history. (T. 1019-23). When he went to the clinic immediately afterwards, he was described as giving his "name." (T. 1048). Whether he gave the first name or last name is irrelevant; not only did he give his name at that time, but he responded with other basic information when asked. <u>Id</u>.

In view of the foregoing, the Appellant's relentless assaults on the court's verbal findings have no merit; the court's findings were fully consistent with the evidence before the court, and the court's ultimate conclusion as to the defendant's competency is fully supported by the evidence.

Ш

THE STATE DID NOT IMPROPERLY USE THE COMPETENCY EXAMINATION TO REBUT MENTAL MITIGATION.

The Appellant claims that testimony from Dr. Garcia violated a confidentiality privilege and further violated rights under the Fifth and Sixth Amendments. These claims have not been preserved for appellate review. Secondly, all of the testimony at issue will be seen to have been necessitated by the defendant's own in-court behavior, in front of the jury, which required proper explanation lest the jury erroneously treat it as an example of his mental illness. Moreover, the defense expert opened the door to such testimony. Third, Dr. Garcia's testimony did not refer to any incriminating statements made by the defendant, and the Fifth Amendment is therefore not implicated. Fourth, there is no Sixth Amendment violation, as defense counsel requested and had notice of the evaluation at issue.

As previously noted in Argument II, as a result of the defendant's outburst at the

commencement of his cross-examination during the penalty phase proceedings, defense counsel sought and obtained a competency evaluation of the defendant. At commencement of the penalty phase, prior to the defendant's outburst, and at the time of the evaluation, the defense had argued to the jury that it intended to show that the murders were committed because defendant was mentally ill and was under the influence of an extreme mental disturbance. (T. 929). Both the defendant and his siblings had then, prior to the outburst, referred to his alleged psychiatric and/or shock treatment during his service in the Cuban military. They had all also emphasized that his mother was a schizophrenic requiring hospitalization, and that they were all afraid that defendant was like his mother. According to the defendant, his mother was "locked up", sometimes as often as once a week. (T. 1011). The defendant also added that he had heard voices since the age of 15, and that he had continued hearing voices even during his testimony. Id, After the outburst, the defense presented the testimony of Dr. Haber. Dr. Haber stated that she had found the defendant competent and able to understand what was going on during her initial interview (T. 1074), but that the defendant "decompensates" when he is under pressure or stress. (T. 1082). She also stated that the defendant's mother was schizophrenic, violent, and that the defendant took her medication because he could not control himself and could not deal with reality. (T. 1069). Dr. Haber also stated that based upon the family history and her psychological testing, the defendant could have schizophrenia, and when under pressure, he "decompensates", and "the thought disorder, the schizophrenia, whatever it is because we don't know exactly, gets worse". (T. 1079-80). Dr. Haber also testified that defendant, although initially denying any hallucinations, had subsequently admitted to visual and auditory hallucinations. (T. 1080-81). Schizophrenia is a major psychiatric illness, and such hallucinations are characteristic of the illness, (T. 1127-28).

As seen above, the defendant created a self-serving situation in which his own expert witness

would testify that he falls apart while under pressure, and could be schizophrenic, while the defendant gave a live, in-court demonstration of these opinions. The combination of these matters might reasonably be expected to cause the jurors to conclude that Dr. Haber's opinions were meritorious, as the defendant's in-court conduct exemplified her conclusions and opinions. In order to effectively respond to the defendant's claim of mental mitigating factors, the State was put in the position of having to explain not only why Dr. Haber's opinions were invalid, but why the defendant's in-court performance should not be construed by the jurors as an indication of the validity of Dr. Haber's opinions. The State thus presented rebuttal testimony from Dr. Garcia, which in large part related to his evaluations, testing and conclusions prior to the defendant's outburst. The State also elicited that Dr. Garcia's opinion of the outburst was different than that of Haber's; and, that the defendant's reports of hallucinations and the selective nature of his responses to routine background questions, were indicative of malingering rather than schizophrenia or other major mental illness.

A. <u>Failure to Preserve</u>

The Appellant herein has presented multiple claims regarding the alleged impropriety of Dr. Garcia's testimony as to the significance of the defendant's in-court outburst • i.e., that the use of the competency evaluation violates a confidentiality privilege; that it violates the defendant's Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination; that it violates the defendant's Sixth Amendment right to counsel; and that it rendered the penalty phase proceedings fundamentally unfair. Not a single one of these claims was presented to the trial court. (T. 1118-22). Similarly, none of the prosecutorial comments, in closing argument, to which the Appellant refers, was the subject of any such claims. (T. 1140-41). Any such claims have therefore been waived and are not preserved for appellate review.

Hargrave v State, 427 So. 2d 713 (Fla. 1983), presents a similar situation in which any error was deemed unpreserved for appellate review. A court-appointed expert, pursuant to defense counsel's request, had conducted a competency evaluation, without giving Miranda warnings. 427 So. 2d at 713. During the penalty phase of the trial, the defense had presented, as a mitigating factor, the claim that Hargrave was under the domination of another person. 427 So. 2d at 714, n. 4. The State then called the aforesaid court-appointed expert who had conducted the competency evaluation, in order to negate this mitigating factor. Id. This Court expressly concluded that the Fifth Amendment claim was waived, in the absence of any objection at trial, and, furthermore, that the claim was not a matter of fundamental error. Id. at 7 15. The Court stated: "While invoking the death penalty requires that aggravating and mitigating circumstances be weighed, the failure to object to testimony which might result in the failure to find a mitigating circumstance is not fundamental error." Id. 15

This Court, in Long v, State, 610 So. 2d 1268, 1275 (Fla. 1992), again found a similar claim to be unpreserved for review. A prosecution mental health expert was presenting rebuttal evidence as to the defendant's mental mitigation in the penalty phase of a capital trial. The State's expert, who had been appointed to conduct both a competency and insanity evaluation, referred to the fact that the defendant had stated that he killed the victim in order "to eliminate a witness." Viewing this reference as violative of Parkin v. State, 238 So. 2d 8 17 (Fla. 1970), since admissions about the facts of the offense, elicited in a compulsory examination, should not be utilized during subsequent in-

This point was contrasted with the situation, arising in Texas cases, relied upon by the Appellant, where the evidence relates to an aggravating factor which must be established in order to sustain the death penalty: "When the finding of an aggravating circumstance is an absolute requirement, as in Texas, the unobjected-to evidence might rise to the level of fundamental error." <u>Id</u>.

court testimony, this Court concluded that the issue was not preserved for appellate review. Another virtually identical issue arose in Erickson v. State, 565 So. 2d 328 (Fla. 4th DCA), rev. denied, 576 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1990), where a court-appointed psychiatrist, testifying as to the defendant's mental condition at trial, disclosed certain factual admissions which the defendant made, regarding the criminal offenses, during the psychiatric examination. After noting that such evidence may not be elicited without violating the Fifth Amendment, unless the defendant has opened the door to it, the Court concluded that any such claim had not been preserved for appellate review. 565 So. 2d at 328, n. 4. See also, Herzog v. State, 439 So. 2d 1372 (Fla. 1983) (alleged Fifth Amendment violation regarding admission of confession not preserved for appellate review); Glendening v. State, 536 So. 2d 212,221 (Fla. 1988) (error in permitting expert mental health witness to testify that it was her opinion that child victim's father was person who committed sexual offense was not preserved for appellate review and was not fundamental).

B. <u>Confidentiality and Rule 3.211(e)</u>

During the State's rebuttal case, Dr. Garcia testified that he had interviewed the defendant after the prior day's incident, to determine whether the defendant was competent and whether he was "acting out, malingering, you know, putting on a show or did he go crazy." (T. 1118). He then referred to the mental status exam which he conducted with Dr. Haber, adding that he concluded the defendant was "competent and likely malingering," while Haber concluded that the defendant was "likely insane" and that he had had a psychotic break. (T. 1118-19). Dr. Garcia then explained why he concluded that the defendant had not suffered from a psychotic break and reiterated his belief that the defendant was malingering, based upon the inconsistencies and selective nature of the things which the defendant professed an inability to recall. (T. 1119-21). Not once during Dr. Garcia's testimony about the competency evaluation did he refer to any form of incriminating admissions

made by the defendant or any substantive statements of the defendant with respect to either the offenses committed or to any background history which the defendant was advancing as the basis for alleged mitigating circumstances.

As previously noted, this claim is not preserved for appellate review, <u>Hargrave</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Long</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Erickson</u>, <u>supra</u>. However, should this Court reach the merits of the claim, it must be concluded that (a) it was waived, by virtue of the issues interjected into the proceedings by the defense; and (b) that the policies of Rule 3.2 11 (e)(2)'s confidentiality have not been violated in the instant case,

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